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December 7, 2021 
 
 
City of Lynden 
300 4th Street 
Lynden, WA  98264 
 
Attn: Steve Banham, Public Works Director 
 Mark Sandal, Programs Manager 
 
Re: City of Lynden  
 Industrial Condensate Pipeline – Outfall 
 
Recommendation to Award 

   

Dear Steve and Mark, 
 
We have reviewed all construction bid proposals for the above referenced project. Strider Construction, Inc. 
(Strider) provided the lowest responsive bid at $2,659,654.08 including sales tax. 
 
In addition to the standard bidder responsibility information, this contract includes nine additional bidder 
responsibility criteria. Strider provided the required information within the specified timeframe. The 
additional bidder responsibility criteria are summarized below, and the associated Bidder Qualifications 
Certificate is attached: 
 

1. Delinquent Sales Tax. Strider does not owe any delinquent taxes to the Washington State 
Department of Revenue. 

2. Federal Debarment. Strider is not currently debarred or suspended by the Federal Government 
3. Subcontractor Responsibility. Strider provided sufficient documentation to support proper vetting 

and contracting with its subcontractors. 
4. Claims Against Retainage Bonds. Strider indicated that they do have one claim against their 

retainage bond and provided additional information regarding the claim. We followed up with the 
Town of Friday Harbor which is the owner of the project where the claim occurred. The Towns 
explanation of the claim matched that provided by Strider, which consists of a claim by one of 
Striders subcontractors against their bond. In our opinion this single claim does not exhibit a record 
of claims filed again the retainage or payment bond or exhibit a lack of effective management by 
Strider. 

5. Public Bidding Crime. Strider has not been convicted of a public bidding crime in the past 5 years. 
6. Termination for Cause / Termination for Default. Strider has not had any public works contract 

terminated for Cause or Default within the past 5 years. 
7. Lawsuits. Strider has not had any judgements entered against them in the past 5 years. It should 

be noted that the claim against Striders retainage bond in Friday Harbor has resulted in a lawsuit. 
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After talking with the Town of Friday Harbor and as also stated by Strider, resolution of the lawsuit 
is expected in spring 2022. As that lawsuit has yet to be resolved, it is not known at this time if it 
will result in a judgement being entered against Strider or if they will prevail in the matter. 

8. Bidder’s Prior Work Experience with Auger Boring. Strider is using subcontractor Gonzales Boring 
and Tunneling (Gonzales) for the auger boring work. Strider provided sufficient project experience 
for Gonzales meeting the requirements of the contract. We also checked with Staheli Trenchless 
Consultants, R&E’s trenchless subconsultant, who stated Gonzales has completed more than 20 of 
their projects and will be very good. 

9. Bidder’s Prior Work Experience with In-Water Construction. Strider provided sufficient project 
experience and experienced personnel meeting the requirements of the contract. 

 
We evaluated the bid tabulation and noted that Striders lump sum bid price for Bid Item 51, Offshore 
Outfall, was 41% lower than the second bidder and 48% lower than the Engineer’s Estimate. Upon request, 
Strider provided a lump sum breakdown for Item 51. Because Striders cost for this item was so much lower 
than the other bidder and the Engineer’s Estimate, we want to satisfy ourselves that Strider has adequately 
accounted for the actual cost of construction. We are satisfied that Strider has adequately covered the 
actual cost of construction. It appears Strider has moved some of the cost of the Offshore Outfall into their 
bid item for mobilization, and a dewatering bid item. When accounting for the mobilization and dewatering 
item, Striders total cost becomes 15% lower than the second bidder and 25% lower than the Engineers 
Estimate which we believe is acceptable and does not place the City in a detrimental position. 
 
Based on the above information, we recommend that you award the contract to Strider Construction, Inc. 
subject to the following: 
 

1. Required project funds are available. 
2. The City of Lynden understands the risk (albeit small in our opinion) that the Ecology comment 

period on the Whatcom County Shorelines permit ends on December 23, 2021. Award of the 
contract prior to the end of the comment period creates a small risk that additional conditions are 
placed on the permit, that are currently not accounted for within the construction contract. 

 
 
Sincerely,  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Nathan, Zylstra, P.E. 
Reichhardt & Ebe Engineering, Inc. 
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